RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 05-11-2017

IN SUPREME COURCLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2015AP000648-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent

v.

ANTON R. DORSEY,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District III,
Affirming a Judgment of Conviction entered in the
Circuit Court for Eau Claire County,
The Honorable Paul J. Lenz, presiding

BRIEF OF THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER ANTON R. DORSEY

Frederick A. Bechtold State bar number 1088631

490 Colby Street Taylors Falls, MN 55084 (651) 465-0463

Attorney for the Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

I.

IX.	Certifications		

II. Table of Authorities

Holmes v. State, 76 Wis.2d 259, 251 N.W.2d 56 (1977) 18 Hough v. State, 70 Wis.2d 807, 235 N.W.2d 534 (1975) 19 Loy v. Bunderson, 107 Wis.2d 400, 320 N.W.2d 175 (1982) 12 McCleary v. State, 49 Wis.2d 263, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971) 12 State v. Alsteen, 108 Wis.2d 723, 324 N.W.2d 426 (1982) 16 State v. Bettinger, 100 Wis.2d 691, 303 N.W.2d 585 (1981) 19 State v. Cartagena, 99 Wis.2d 657, 299 N.W.2d 872 (1981) 18, 28 State v. Clark, 179 Wis.2d 484, 507 N.W.2d 172 (Ct. App. 1993) 24 State v. Cofield, 2000 WI App 196, 238 Wis.2d 467, 618 N.W.2d 214 18, 22 State v. D. J. Johnson, 184 Wis.2d 324, 516 N.W.2d 463 (Ct. App. 1994) 13, 17, 24, 25 State v. Danforth, 129 Wis.2d 187, 385 N.W.2d 125 (1986) 21 State v. Davidson, 2000 WI 91, 236 Wis.2d 537, 613 N.W.2d 606 20, 21, 23, 25 State v. Dyess, 124 Wis.2d 525, 370 N.W.2d 222 (1985) 17 State v. Evers, 139 Wis.2d 424, 407 N.W.2d 256 (1987) 26 State v. Fishnick, 127 Wis.2d 247, 378 N.W.2d 272 (1985) 17, 19, 20, 23, 24 State v. Humter, 2000 WI 92, 236 Wis.2d 686, 613 N.W.2d 629 20, 24-26 State v. Humter, 2003 WI 81, 263 Wis.2d 1, 666 N.W.2d 771 13, 20 State v. Payano, 2009 Wis. 86, 320 Wis. 2d 348, <th>Cases</th>	Cases
Loy v. Bunderson, 107 Wis.2d 400, 320 N.W.2d 175 (1982) 12 McCleary v. State, 49 Wis.2d 263, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971) 12 State v. Alsteen, 108 Wis.2d 723, 324 N.W.2d 426 (1982) 16 State v. Bettinger, 100 Wis.2d 691, 303 N.W.2d 585 (1981) 19 State v. Cartagena, 99 Wis.2d 657, 299 N.W.2d 872 (1981) 18, 28 State v. Clark, 179 Wis.2d 484, 507 N.W.2d 172 (Ct. App. 1993) 24 State v. Cofield, 2000 WI App 196, 238 Wis.2d 467, 618 N.W.2d 214 18, 22 State v. D. J. Johnson, 184 Wis.2d 324, 516 N.W.2d 463 (Ct. App. 1994) 13, 17, 24, 25 State v. Danforth, 129 Wis.2d 187, 385 N.W.2d 125 (1986) 21 State v. Davidson, 2000 WI 91, 236 Wis.2d 537, 20, 21, 23, 25 State v. Dyess, 124 Wis.2d 525, 370 N.W.2d 222 (1985) 17 State v. Evers, 139 Wis.2d 424, 407 N.W.2d 256 (1987) 26 State v. Fishnick, 127 Wis.2d 247, 378 N.W.2d 272 (1985) 17, 19, 20, 23, 24 State v. Hammer, 2000 WI 92, 236 Wis.2d 686, 613 N.W.2d 629 20, 24-26 State v. Hunt, 2003 WI 81, 263 Wis.2d 1, 666 N.W.2d 771 13, 14, 20, 23 State v. Hurley, 2015 WI 35, 861 N.W.2d 174 13, 14, 20, 23 State v. Payano, 2009 Wis. 86, 320 Wis.2d 348, 768 N.W.2d 832 14-17, 22, 24, 27 State v. Pharr, 115 Wis.2d 334, 3	Holmes v. State, 76 Wis.2d 259, 251 N.W.2d 56 (1977)
McCleary v. State, 49 Wis.2d 263, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971) 12 State v. Alsteen, 108 Wis.2d 723, 324 N.W.2d 426 (1982) 16 State v. Bettinger, 100 Wis.2d 691, 303 N.W.2d 585 (1981) 19 State v. Cartagena, 99 Wis.2d 657, 299 N.W.2d 872 (1981) 18, 28 State v. Clark, 179 Wis.2d 484, 507 N.W.2d 172 (Ct. App. 1993) 24 State v. Cofield, 2000 WI App 196, 238 Wis.2d 467, 618 N.W.2d 214 18, 22 State v. D. J. Johnson, 184 Wis.2d 324, 516 N.W.2d 463 (Ct. App. 1994) 13, 17, 24, 25 State v. Danforth, 129 Wis.2d 187, 385 N.W.2d 125 (1986) 21 State v. Davidson, 2000 WI 91, 236 Wis.2d 537, 20, 21, 23, 25 State v. Dyess, 124 Wis.2d 525, 370 N.W.2d 222 (1985) 17 State v. Evers, 139 Wis.2d 424, 407 N.W.2d 256 (1987) 26 State v. Fishnick, 127 Wis.2d 247, 378 N.W.2d 272 (1985) 17, 19, 20, 23, 24 State v. Friedrich, 135 Wis.2d 1, 398 N.W.2d 763 (1987) 19, 20, 23, 24 State v. Hammer, 2000 WI 92, 236 Wis.2d 686, 613 N.W.2d 629 20, 24-26 State v. Hunt, 2003 WI 81, 263 Wis.2d 1, 666 N.W.2d 771 13, 14, 20, 23 State v. Hurley, 2015 WI 35, 861 N.W.2d 174 13, 14, 20, 23 State v. Payano, 2009 Wis. 86, 320 Wis.2d 348, 14-17, 22, 24, 27 State v. Pharr, 115 Wis.2d 334, 340 N.W.2d 498 (198	Hough v. State, 70 Wis.2d 807, 235 N.W.2d 534 (1975)
State v. Alsteen, 108 Wis.2d 723, 324 N.W.2d 426 (1982)	Loy v. Bunderson, 107 Wis.2d 400, 320 N.W.2d 175 (1982)
State v. Bettinger, 100 Wis.2d 691, 303 N.W.2d 585 (1981) 19 State v. Cartagena, 99 Wis.2d 657, 299 N.W.2d 872 (1981) 18, 28 State v. Clark, 179 Wis.2d 484, 507 N.W.2d 172 (Ct. App. 1993) 24 State v. Cofield, 2000 WI App 196, 238 Wis.2d 467, 618 N.W.2d 214 18, 22 State v. D. J. Johnson, 184 Wis.2d 324, 516 N.W.2d 463 13, 17, 24, 25 State v. Danforth, 129 Wis.2d 187, 385 N.W.2d 125 (1986) 21 State v. Davidson, 2000 WI 91, 236 Wis.2d 537, 613 N.W.2d 606 20, 21, 23, 25 State v. Dyess, 124 Wis.2d 525, 370 N.W.2d 222 (1985) 17 State v. Evers, 139 Wis.2d 424, 407 N.W.2d 256 (1987) 26 State v. Fishnick, 127 Wis.2d 247, 378 N.W.2d 272 (1985) 17, 19, 20, 23, 24 State v. Friedrich, 135 Wis.2d 1, 398 N.W.2d 763 (1987) 19, 20, 23, 24 State v. Hammer, 2000 WI 92, 236 Wis.2d 686, 613 N.W.2d 629 20, 24-26 State v. Hunt, 2003 WI 81, 263 Wis.2d 1, 666 N.W.2d 771 13, 20 State v. Hurley, 2015 WI 35, 861 N.W.2d 174 13, 14, 20, 23 State v. Payano, 2009 Wis. 86, 320 Wis.2d 348, 768 N.W.2d 832 14-17, 22, 24, 27 State v. Pharr, 115 Wis.2d 334, 340 N.W.2d 498 (1983) 12, 16, 17, 27 State v. Plymesser, 172 Wis.2d 583, 493 N.W.2d 367 (1992) 20, 21, 23, 24	McCleary v. State, 49 Wis.2d 263, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971)
State v. Cartagena, 99 Wis.2d 657, 299 N.W.2d 872 (1981) 18, 28 State v. Clark, 179 Wis.2d 484, 507 N.W.2d 172 (Ct. App. 1993) 24 State v. Cofield, 2000 WI App 196, 238 Wis.2d 467, 618 N.W.2d 214 18, 22 State v. D. J. Johnson, 184 Wis.2d 324, 516 N.W.2d 463 13, 17, 24, 25 State v. Danforth, 129 Wis.2d 187, 385 N.W.2d 125 (1986) 21 State v. Davidson, 2000 WI 91, 236 Wis.2d 537, 20, 21, 23, 25 State v. Dyess, 124 Wis.2d 525, 370 N.W.2d 222 (1985) 17 State v. Evers, 139 Wis.2d 424, 407 N.W.2d 256 (1987) 26 State v. Fishnick, 127 Wis.2d 247, 378 N.W.2d 272 (1985) 17, 19, 20, 23, 24 State v. Friedrich, 135 Wis.2d 1, 398 N.W.2d 763 (1987) 19, 20, 23, 24 State v. Hammer, 2000 WI 92, 236 Wis.2d 686, 613 N.W.2d 629 20, 24-26 State v. Hunt, 2003 WI 81, 263 Wis.2d 1, 666 N.W.2d 771 13, 20 State v. Hurley, 2015 WI 35, 861 N.W.2d 174 13, 14, 20, 23 State v. Payano, 2009 Wis. 86, 320 Wis.2d 348, 14-17, 22, 24, 27 State v. Pharr, 115 Wis.2d 334, 340 N.W.2d 498 (1983) 12, 16, 17, 27 State v. Plymesser, 172 Wis.2d 583, 493 N.W.2d 367 (1992) 20, 21, 23, 24	State v. Alsteen, 108 Wis.2d 723, 324 N.W.2d 426 (1982)
State v. Clark, 179 Wis.2d 484, 507 N.W.2d 172 (Ct. App. 1993)	State v. Bettinger, 100 Wis.2d 691, 303 N.W.2d 585 (1981)
State v. Cofield, 2000 WI App 196, 238 Wis.2d 467, 618 N.W.2d 214	State v. Cartagena, 99 Wis.2d 657, 299 N.W.2d 872 (1981)
State v. D. J. Johnson, 184 Wis.2d 324, 516 N.W.2d 463	State v. Clark, 179 Wis.2d 484, 507 N.W.2d 172 (Ct. App. 1993)24
(Ct. App. 1994) 13, 17, 24, 25 State v. Danforth, 129 Wis.2d 187, 385 N.W.2d 125 (1986) 21 State v. Davidson, 2000 WI 91, 236 Wis.2d 537, 20, 21, 23, 25 613 N.W.2d 606 20, 21, 23, 25 State v. Dyess, 124 Wis.2d 525, 370 N.W.2d 222 (1985) 17 State v. Evers, 139 Wis.2d 424, 407 N.W.2d 256 (1987) 26 State v. Fishnick, 127 Wis.2d 247, 378 N.W.2d 272 (1985) 17, 19, 20, 23, 24 State v. Friedrich, 135 Wis.2d 1, 398 N.W.2d 763 (1987) 19, 20, 23, 24 State v. Hammer, 2000 WI 92, 236 Wis.2d 686, 613 N.W.2d 629 20, 24-26 State v. Hunt, 2003 WI 81, 263 Wis.2d 1, 666 N.W.2d 771 13, 20 State v. Hurley, 2015 WI 35, 861 N.W.2d 174 13, 14, 20, 23 State v. Normington, 2008 WI App 8306, Wis.2d 727, 744 N.W.2d 867 22 State v. Payano, 2009 Wis. 86, 320 Wis.2d 348, 14-17, 22, 24, 27 State v. Pharr, 115 Wis.2d 334, 340 N.W.2d 498 (1983) 12, 16, 17, 27 State v. Plymesser, 172 Wis.2d 583, 493 N.W.2d 367 (1992) 20, 21, 23, 24	State v. Cofield, 2000 WI App 196, 238 Wis.2d 467, 618 N.W.2d 214 18, 22
State v. Danforth, 129 Wis.2d 187, 385 N.W.2d 125 (1986) 21 State v. Davidson, 2000 WI 91, 236 Wis.2d 537, 20, 21, 23, 25 State v. Dyess, 124 Wis.2d 525, 370 N.W.2d 222 (1985) 17 State v. Evers, 139 Wis.2d 424, 407 N.W.2d 256 (1987) 26 State v. Fishnick, 127 Wis.2d 247, 378 N.W.2d 272 (1985) 17, 19, 20, 23, 24 State v. Friedrich, 135 Wis.2d 1, 398 N.W.2d 763 (1987) 19, 20, 23, 24 State v. Hammer, 2000 WI 92, 236 Wis.2d 686, 613 N.W.2d 629 20, 24-26 State v. Hunt, 2003 WI 81, 263 Wis.2d 1, 666 N.W.2d 771 13, 20 State v. Hurley, 2015 WI 35, 861 N.W.2d 174 13, 14, 20, 23 State v. Normington, 2008 WI App 8306, Wis.2d 727, 744 N.W.2d 867 22 State v. Payano, 2009 Wis. 86, 320 Wis.2d 348, 14-17, 22, 24, 27 State v. Pharr, 115 Wis.2d 334, 340 N.W.2d 498 (1983) 12, 16, 17, 27 State v. Plymesser, 172 Wis.2d 583, 493 N.W.2d 367 (1992) 20, 21, 23, 24	State v. D. J. Johnson, 184 Wis.2d 324, 516 N.W.2d 463
State v. Davidson, 2000 WI 91, 236 Wis.2d 537, 20, 21, 23, 25 State v. Dyess, 124 Wis.2d 525, 370 N.W.2d 222 (1985) 17 State v. Evers, 139 Wis.2d 424, 407 N.W.2d 256 (1987) 26 State v. Fishnick, 127 Wis.2d 247, 378 N.W.2d 272 (1985) 17, 19, 20, 23, 24 State v. Friedrich, 135 Wis.2d 1, 398 N.W.2d 763 (1987) 19, 20, 23, 24 State v. Hammer, 2000 WI 92, 236 Wis.2d 686, 613 N.W.2d 629 20, 24-26 State v. Hunt, 2003 WI 81, 263 Wis.2d 1, 666 N.W.2d 771 13, 20 State v. Hurley, 2015 WI 35, 861 N.W.2d 174 13, 14, 20, 23 State v. Normington, 2008 WI App 8306, Wis.2d 727, 744 N.W.2d 867 22 State v. Payano, 2009 Wis. 86, 320 Wis.2d 348, 768 N.W.2d 832 14-17, 22, 24, 27 State v. Pharr, 115 Wis.2d 334, 340 N.W.2d 498 (1983) 12, 16, 17, 27 State v. Plymesser, 172 Wis.2d 583, 493 N.W.2d 367 (1992) 20, 21, 23, 24	(Ct. App. 1994)
613 N.W.2d 606 20, 21, 23, 25 State v. Dyess, 124 Wis.2d 525, 370 N.W.2d 222 (1985) 17 State v. Evers, 139 Wis.2d 424, 407 N.W.2d 256 (1987) 26 State v. Fishnick, 127 Wis.2d 247, 378 N.W.2d 272 (1985) 17, 19, 20, 23, 24 State v. Friedrich, 135 Wis.2d 1, 398 N.W.2d 763 (1987) 19, 20, 23, 24 State v. Hammer, 2000 WI 92, 236 Wis.2d 686, 613 N.W.2d 629 20, 24-26 State v. Hunt, 2003 WI 81, 263 Wis.2d 1, 666 N.W.2d 771 13, 20 State v. Hurley, 2015 WI 35, 861 N.W.2d 174 13, 14, 20, 23 State v. Normington, 2008 WI App 8306, Wis.2d 727, 744 N.W.2d 867 22 State v. Payano, 2009 Wis. 86, 320 Wis.2d 348, 14-17, 22, 24, 27 State v. Pharr, 115 Wis.2d 334, 340 N.W.2d 498 (1983) 12, 16, 17, 27 State v. Plymesser, 172 Wis.2d 583, 493 N.W.2d 367 (1992) 20, 21, 23, 24	State v. Danforth, 129 Wis.2d 187, 385 N.W.2d 125 (1986)
State v. Dyess, 124 Wis.2d 525, 370 N.W.2d 222 (1985) 17 State v. Evers, 139 Wis.2d 424, 407 N.W.2d 256 (1987) 26 State v. Fishnick, 127 Wis.2d 247, 378 N.W.2d 272 (1985) 17, 19, 20, 23, 24 State v. Friedrich, 135 Wis.2d 1, 398 N.W.2d 763 (1987) 19, 20, 23, 24 State v. Hammer, 2000 WI 92, 236 Wis.2d 686, 613 N.W.2d 629 20, 24-26 State v. Hunt, 2003 WI 81, 263 Wis.2d 1, 666 N.W.2d 771 13, 20 State v. Hurley, 2015 WI 35, 861 N.W.2d 174 13, 14, 20, 23 State v. Normington, 2008 WI App 8306, Wis.2d 727, 744 N.W.2d 867 22 State v. Payano, 2009 Wis. 86, 320 Wis.2d 348, 14-17, 22, 24, 27 State v. Pharr, 115 Wis.2d 334, 340 N.W.2d 498 (1983) 12, 16, 17, 27 State v. Plymesser, 172 Wis.2d 583, 493 N.W.2d 367 (1992) 20, 21, 23, 24	State v. Davidson, 2000 WI 91, 236 Wis.2d 537,
State v. Evers, 139 Wis.2d 424, 407 N.W.2d 256 (1987) 26 State v. Fishnick, 127 Wis.2d 247, 378 N.W.2d 272 (1985) 17, 19, 20, 23, 24 State v. Friedrich, 135 Wis.2d 1, 398 N.W.2d 763 (1987) 19, 20, 23, 24 State v. Hammer, 2000 WI 92, 236 Wis.2d 686, 613 N.W.2d 629 20, 24-26 State v. Hunt, 2003 WI 81, 263 Wis.2d 1, 666 N.W.2d 771 13, 20 State v. Hurley, 2015 WI 35, 861 N.W.2d 174 13, 14, 20, 23 State v. Normington, 2008 WI App 8306, Wis.2d 727, 744 N.W.2d 867 22 State v. Payano, 2009 Wis. 86, 320 Wis.2d 348, 14-17, 22, 24, 27 State v. Pharr, 115 Wis.2d 334, 340 N.W.2d 498 (1983) 12, 16, 17, 27 State v. Plymesser, 172 Wis.2d 583, 493 N.W.2d 367 (1992) 20, 21, 23, 24	613 N.W.2d 606
State v. Fishnick, 127 Wis.2d 247, 378 N.W.2d 272 (1985)	State v. Dyess, 124 Wis.2d 525, 370 N.W.2d 222 (1985)
State v. Friedrich, 135 Wis.2d 1, 398 N.W.2d 763 (1987) 19, 20, 23, 24 State v. Hammer, 2000 WI 92, 236 Wis.2d 686, 613 N.W.2d 629 20, 24-26 State v. Hunt, 2003 WI 81, 263 Wis.2d 1, 666 N.W.2d 771 13, 20 State v. Hurley, 2015 WI 35, 861 N.W.2d 174 13, 14, 20, 23 State v. Normington, 2008 WI App 8306, Wis.2d 727, 744 N.W.2d 867 22 State v. Payano, 2009 Wis. 86, 320 Wis.2d 348, 14-17, 22, 24, 27 State v. Pharr, 115 Wis.2d 334, 340 N.W.2d 498 (1983) 12, 16, 17, 27 State v. Plymesser, 172 Wis.2d 583, 493 N.W.2d 367 (1992) 20, 21, 23, 24	State v. Evers, 139 Wis.2d 424, 407 N.W.2d 256 (1987)
State v. Hammer, 2000 WI 92, 236 Wis.2d 686, 613 N.W.2d 629 20, 24-26 State v. Hunt, 2003 WI 81, 263 Wis.2d 1, 666 N.W.2d 771 13, 20 State v. Hurley, 2015 WI 35, 861 N.W.2d 174 13, 14, 20, 23 State v. Normington, 2008 WI App 8306, Wis.2d 727, 744 N.W.2d 867 22 State v. Payano, 2009 Wis. 86, 320 Wis.2d 348, 14-17, 22, 24, 27 State v. Pharr, 115 Wis.2d 334, 340 N.W.2d 498 (1983) 12, 16, 17, 27 State v. Plymesser, 172 Wis.2d 583, 493 N.W.2d 367 (1992) 20, 21, 23, 24	State v. Fishnick, 127 Wis.2d 247, 378 N.W.2d 272 (1985) 17, 19, 20, 23, 24
State v. Hunt, 2003 WI 81, 263 Wis.2d 1, 666 N.W.2d 771 13, 20 State v. Hurley, 2015 WI 35, 861 N.W.2d 174 13, 14, 20, 23 State v. Normington, 2008 WI App 8306, Wis.2d 727, 744 N.W.2d 867 22 State v. Payano, 2009 Wis. 86, 320 Wis.2d 348, 14-17, 22, 24, 27 State v. Pharr, 115 Wis.2d 334, 340 N.W.2d 498 (1983) 12, 16, 17, 27 State v. Plymesser, 172 Wis.2d 583, 493 N.W.2d 367 (1992) 20, 21, 23, 24	State v. Friedrich, 135 Wis.2d 1, 398 N.W.2d 763 (1987)
State v. Hurley, 2015 WI 35, 861 N.W.2d 174. 13, 14, 20, 23 State v. Normington, 2008 WI App 8306, Wis.2d 727, 744 N.W.2d 867. 22 State v. Payano, 2009 Wis. 86, 320 Wis.2d 348, 14-17, 22, 24, 27 State v. Pharr, 115 Wis.2d 334, 340 N.W.2d 498 (1983) 12, 16, 17, 27 State v. Plymesser, 172 Wis.2d 583, 493 N.W.2d 367 (1992) 20, 21, 23, 24	State v. Hammer, 2000 WI 92, 236 Wis.2d 686, 613 N.W.2d 62920, 24-26
State v. Normington, 2008 WI App 8306, Wis.2d 727, 744 N.W.2d 867	State v. Hunt, 2003 WI 81, 263 Wis.2d 1, 666 N.W.2d 771
State v. Payano, 2009 Wis. 86, 320 Wis.2d 348, 768 N.W.2d 832	State v. Hurley, 2015 WI 35, 861 N.W.2d 174
768 N.W.2d 832	State v. Normington, 2008 WI App 8306, Wis.2d 727, 744 N.W.2d 86722
State v. Pharr, 115 Wis.2d 334, 340 N.W.2d 498 (1983)	State v. Payano, 2009 Wis. 86, 320 Wis.2d 348,
State v. Plymesser, 172 Wis.2d 583, 493 N.W.2d 367 (1992)20, 21, 23, 24	768 N.W.2d 83214-17, 22, 24, 27
	State v. Pharr, 115 Wis.2d 334, 340 N.W.2d 498 (1983)12, 16, 17, 27
State v. Roberson, 157 Wis.2d 447, 459 N.W.2d 611 (Ct. App. 1990)	State v. Plymesser, 172 Wis.2d 583, 493 N.W.2d 367 (1992)20, 21, 23, 24
	State v. Roberson, 157 Wis.2d 447, 459 N.W.2d 611 (Ct. App. 1990)

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