RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 06-15-2017

IN SUPREME COUR FLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2015AP648-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ANTON R. DORSEY,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT III, AFFIRMING AN ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR EAU CLAIRE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE PAUL J. LENZ, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

TIFFANY M. WINTER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1065853

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

"Because other acts evidence is inherently relevant to prove character and therefore a propensity to behave accordingly, 'the real issue is whether the other act is relevant to anything else." Payano, 320 Wis. 2d 348, ¶ 67 (quoting Blinka, supra, § 404.6, at 181).

Here, the other-acts evidence was relevant. Again, this case was about credibility, and evidence that establishes who to believe is always relevant. *Marinez*, 331 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 34 (citing Blinka, *supra*, § 401.101 at 98). The jury was required to determine if Dorsey's or C.B.'s version of events was more credible. The State sought admission of the otheracts evidence to establish Dorsey's intent and motive to harm C.B. and his motive to control her in the context of a domestic relationship. (R. 9:1–2, A-App. 58–59.) Establishing intent, motive, and context assists the jury in making credibility determinations by providing a more complete explanation of the case. Thus, the other-acts evidence met the first prong of the two-pronged relevancy test.

Dorsey disagrees and argues that the circuit court should have excluded the other-acts evidence because Dorsey was not disputing intent or motive; rather, he denied that the alleged acts occurred. (Dorsey's Br. 24–28.) This is similar to the argument proffered by the defense in *State v. Veach*, 2002 WI 110, ¶ 60, 255 Wis. 2d 390, 648 N.W.2d 447. Veach, like Dorsey, argued that the other-acts evidence is inadmissible to prove undisputed matters. *Id.* And Veach, like Dorsey, did not dispute intent or motive, rather, his defense was that it "just didn't happen." *Id.*

Dorsey's argument must fail for the same reason Veach's argument failed – "the State is required to prove all elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt even if an element is not disputed." *Id.* ¶ 77 (citation omitted). And thus, "[e]vidence relevant to any element is admissible even if the element is undisputed." *Id.* Dorsey's denial that the assaults ever occurred did not somehow transform relevant

admissible evidence into prohibited propensity evidence. If that was the case, then any defendant could bar other-acts evidence by simply stating: "I didn't do it." Regardless of Dorsey's defense, intent was an element the State was required to prove. "[W]hen the occurrence of the act is disputed, the fact that defendant was motivated to commit the act increases the probability that it occurred. . . . [and] evidence of motive is admissible to prove defendant's intent." John E.B. Myers, Myers on Evidence of Interpersonal Violence, § 8.05 (6th ed. 2016).

Dorsey also asserts that "the State never showed how R.K.'s testimony might actually be relevant to the issue of intent, other than in making a forbidden character inference." (Dorsey's Br. 26.) Relatedly, Dorsey argues that his intent or motive to harm R.K. has nothing to do with his intent or motive to harm C.B. (Dorsey's Br. 18–19.) Dorsey fails to acknowledge other-acts evidence establishing intent, motive, and context is relevant circumstantial evidence.

Frequently, juries must determine intent from circumstantial evidence. See, e.g., State v. Ambrose, 181 Wis. 2d 234, 238, 510 N.W.2d 758 (Ct. App. 1993). "Intent may be inferred from the defendant's conduct, including his words and gestures taken in the context of the circumstances." State v. Stewart, 143 Wis. 2d 28, 35, 420 N.W.2d 44 (1988). "[C]ircumstantial evidence is often stronger and more satisfactory than direct evidence, and a finding of guilt may rest entirely on circumstantial evidence." State v. Searcy, 2006 WI App 8, ¶ 22, 288 Wis. 2d 804, 709 N.W.2d 497.

Here, the other-acts evidence, in conjunction with C.B.'s testimony, tended to show that domestic abuse characterized Dorsey's relationships with intimate partners, such that the assaults against C.B. represented Dorsey's

assertion of power and control over her. "Domestic violence cases usually encompass a broad range of uniquely violent and controlling acts which are dissimilar in their facts [But the] repeated acts of battering are similar in concept, as part of the cycle of violence to regain control and power " Vartabedian. TheNeedto HoldAccountable: Admitting Prior Acts of Abuse in Cases of Domestic Violence, 47 Santa Clara L. Rev. 157, 175 (2007). See also Andrea M. Kovach, Prosecutorial Use of Other Acts of Domestic Violence for Propensity Purposes: A Brief Look at Its Past, Present, and Future, 2003 U. Ill. L. Rev. 1115, 1129-30.

"Allegations of a single act of domestic violence, taken out of its situational context, are likely to seem 'incongruous and incredible' to a jury." State v. Sanders, 716 A.2d 11, 13 (Vt. 1998). "In cases of domestic violence, . . . there is a logical connection between violent acts against two different persons with whom the accused had a similar emotional or intimate attachment." See, e.g., Smith v. State, 501 S.E.2d 523, 527 (Ga. Ct. App. 1998). "[E] vidence of prior domestic violence is more probative for showing that a defendant committed the [charged domestic-violence-related] crime than it is in sexual assault cases, because the recidivism rate of domestic violence batterers is higher than that of sexual abuse offenders." Vartabedian, 47 Santa Clara L. Rev. at 180. This is "likely due to the larger scheme of dominance and control occurring in most relationships that involve domestic violence." Id. at 181.

Moreover, if the greater latitude rule is applicable, "[o]ne reason for a 'greater latitude' standard . . . is to corroborate the victim's testimony against a credibility challenge by the defense." State v. Fishnick, 127 Wis. 2d 247, 257 n.4, 378 N.W.2d 272 (1985). See also, Davidson, 236 Wis. 2d 537, ¶ 40. In child sexual assault cases, like domestic

abuse cases, common defense strategies include denying the allegations and raising the possibility of vindictiveness on the part of the victim. *Fishnick*, 127 Wis. 2d at 257 n.4. The greater latitude rule tips the scale in favor of admitting other-acts evidence that "buttresses the victim's credibility against such a defense challenge." *Fishnick*, 127 Wis. 2d at 257 n.4.

And like many child sexual assault cases, the central issue in this case was credibility. Establishing Dorsey's intent and motive to harm C.B. and to control her in the context of a domestic relationship assisted the jury in making its credibility determinations by providing a more complete explanation of the case. Many domestic abuse cases boil down to credibility. The abuser is generally not assaulting the victim in public. Rather, the offense is secretive, committed in the home or other discrete places. If other-acts evidence were irrelevant or prohibited simply because it bolstered the credibility of a witness, then otheracts evidence would almost always be inadmissible. That is contrary to established other-acts jurisprudence and to any interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 904.04(2)(b)1.

The other-acts evidence here was related to a fact of consequence: credibility. *Hurley*, 361 Wis. 2d 529, ¶ 81 (citation omitted). Thus, the first part of the relevancy analysis was satisfied and Doresy does not dispute that the evidence was probative. And as the court of appeals concluded, "the State established that the other-acts evidence would be probative—indeed, highly probative—to the issue of motive and intent, and is relevant in that sense." *Dorsey II*, 2016 WL 7108525, ¶ 40. (R-App. 109–10.)

C. The circuit court properly concluded that the probative value was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.

"Once the proponent of the other-acts evidence establishes the first two prongs of the test, the burden shifts to the party opposing the admission of the other-acts evidence to show that the probative value of the evidence is substantially outweighed by the risk or danger of unfair prejudice." *Hurley*, 361 Wis. 2d 529, ¶ 58 (quoting *Marinez*, 331 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 19). The circuit court and the court of appeals concluded that Dorsey did not meet that burden. (R. 33:12, A-App. 53.) *Dorsey II*, 2016 WL 7108525, ¶¶ 42–44. (R-App. 110.)

Almost all evidence is prejudicial. State v. Johnson, 184 Wis. 2d 324, 340, 516 N.W.2d 463 (Ct. App. 1994). The test is whether the resulting prejudice is fair. Id. The more probative the evidence is, the fairer its prejudicial effect will be. Id. "Thus, the standard for unfair prejudice is not whether the evidence harms the opposing party's case, but rather whether the evidence tends to influence the outcome of the case by 'improper means." Id.

Other-acts evidence, by its definition, will always be prejudicial; the question for the circuit court to consider is whether the other-acts evidence is so prejudicial that the resulting prejudice would substantially outweigh the probative value. Sullivan, 216 Wis. 2d at 773. Dorsey has not shown that a reasonable judge would have found that the resulting prejudice substantially outweighed the probative value of the other-acts evidence. Thus, Dorsey has not established that the circuit court improperly exercised its discretion in deciding that issue.

In sum, the other-acts evidence was properly admitted. It was offered for an acceptable purpose. It was relevant. And it was not unduly prejudicial. Thus, this Court should affirm Dorsey's judgment of conviction.

III. If there was any error in admitting R.K.'s testimony, it was harmless.

The State maintains that the other-acts evidence was properly admitted at trial and will not proffer an unnecessarily lengthy harmless error argument. However, assuming arguendo that the other-acts evidence should not have been admitted, any error in doing so was harmless. "Wisconsin's harmless error rule is codified in WIS. STAT. § 805.18 and is made applicable to criminal proceedings by WIS. STAT. § 972.11(1)." State v. Sherman, 2008 WI App 57, ¶ 8, 310 Wis. 2d 248, 750 N.W.2d 500 (citation omitted). The harmless error test applies to claims that the circuit court erroneously admitted other-acts evidence. State v. Thoms, 228 Wis. 2d 868, 873, 599 N.W.2d 84 (Ct. App. 1999) (citation omitted).

"The test for harmless error is whether there is a reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction." Thoms, 228 Wis. 2d at 873 (citation omitted). "The beneficiary of the error, here the State, has the burden to establish that the test has been met." Id. (citation omitted). "In determining if harmless error exists, we focus on whether the error undermines our confidence in the case's outcome, and to do so, we must consider the error in the context of the entire trial and consider the strength of untainted evidence." Id. (citations omitted). The claimed error did not contribute to the verdict if this Court concludes, beyond a reasonable doubt, that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error.

State v. Harvey, 2002 WI 93, ¶ 49, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189.

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